IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

	FILED
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	JAN 0 5 2012
Plaintiff and Respondent,	Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
v.)	Deputy Case No.
,	S195187
DEMETRIUS LAMONT WILLIAMS,	
Defendant and Appellant)	

SUPREME COURT

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review of an Opinion and Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Seven, No. B222845 Los Angeles Superior Court, No. MA046168 The Honorable Bernie C. LaForteza, Judge

> TRACY A. ROGERS, Attorney at Law State Bar No. 190562

QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Can a conviction for robbery be based on the use of force in the attempt to escape after committing the crime of theft by false pretenses as opposed to theft by larceny?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 10, 2010, appellant was found guilty after a jury trial of

four counts of second degree robbery (Penal Code § 211¹, counts 1-4), second degree burglary (§ 459, count 5), grand theft by using an access card (§ 484g, subd. (a), count 6), grand theft (§ 487, subd. (a), count 7), and three counts of forgery (§ 484i, subd. (b), counts 8-10). (4 RT 1842-1845, CT 42-50, 140-143.) On January 5, 2010, appellant admitted that he had suffered a prior conviction for robbery, which conviction was alleged as a "strike" under sections 667, subdivisions (b)-(i), and 1170.12, subdivisions (a)-(d), and as a five-year serious felony prior conviction under section 667, subdivision (a)(1). (4 RT 1847-1848, CT 145.) Allegations of five qualifying prior prison terms were dismissed on motion of the People. (4 RT 1846, CT 145.)

At the sentencing hearing conducted March 3, 2010, the court denied appellant's motion to dismiss the prior strike for sentencing purposes pursuant to section 1385. (4 RT 2104, 2112, CT 159, 160.) The court denied probation and sentenced appellant to the upper term of five years on count 1, robbery, and doubled that term pursuant to the strike prior. (4 RT 2112-2113, CT 159.) The court imposed consecutive two year terms for

¹ All further statutory references are to the California Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

the remaining three robbery counts (one-third of the mid-term of three years, doubled due to the strike). (4 RT 2113, CT 161-163.) The court imposed a consecutive term of one year, four months, for count five, second degree burglary (one third of the midterm of two years, doubled pursuant to the strike prior.) (4 RT 2113, CT 163-164.) The court stayed the sentence on counts six (§ 484g, subd. (a)), and seven (§ 487, subd. (a)), pursuant to section 654. (4 RT 2113, CT 164-165.) The court imposed a consecutive term of one year, four months, for count eight, credit card forgery (one third of the midterm of two years, doubled pursuant to the strike prior.) (4 RT 2114, CT 165-166.) The court stayed the sentences on counts nine and ten, also credit card forgery, pursuant to section 654. (4 RT 2114, CT 166-167.) The court imposed an additional five-year term for the serious prior felony conviction pursuant to section 667, subdivision (a), for a total prison term of twenty three years, eight months. (4 RT 2115, CT 160, 168.)

In a published opinion filed July 11, 2011, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Seven, affirmed the robbery convictions and rejected appellant's contention that those counts should be reversed because the crime of robbery requires a larcenous taking which was not present in this case. Additionally, the Court of Appeal agreed that there was not sufficient

evidence to support the guilty verdicts with regard to counts 8 through 10, credit card forgery, and reversed the convictions for those counts. The Court of Appeal also agreed that the term for second degree burglary, count 5, should have been stayed pursuant to section 654. The court ordered that appellant's sentence be reduced to 21 years, reflecting the removal of the one-year, four-month terms imposed for counts 5 and 8.

This Court granted review on the question whether a conviction for robbery may be based on the use of force in the attempt to escape after committing the crime of theft by false pretenses as opposed to theft by larceny.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prosecution Evidence

On July 4, 2009, appellant entered the Wal-Mart department store in Palmdale and purchased a \$200 gift card from Michael Ortiz, a store cashier, with a "gold looking" credit card. (2 RT 656, 660, 663-664.) It was later determined that the card was not a valid one, but had been altered such that the magnetic strip on the back of the card corresponded to another person's credit card account information. (2 RT 644-657, 719-723; Peo. Exhs. 1, 13.)

Minutes later, appellant again approached Ortiz and attempted to purchase three additional gift cards. (2 RT 665.) Jacqueline Pena, another cashier, intervened and told appellant that pursuant to Wal-Mart policy, credit cards could not be used to purchase gift cards; only debit cards or cash were allowable forms of payment. (2 RT 682.) Appellant handed back to Ortiz the three cards he was attempting to purchase, and Ortiz voided that transaction. (2 RT 667-668.)

Scotty Southwell, a loss² prevention officers at Wal-Mart, was notified that some suspicious transactions were occurring. (2 RT 685-686, 691.) Southwell and another loss prevention officer, Vyron Harris, approached appellant and Southwell identified himself as a loss prevention officer. (2 RT 697.) Southwell asked appellant for the receipt and the card he had used for the purchase. (2 RT 697-698.) Appellant complied. (2 RT 698-699.) Southwell noticed that the last four digits of the credit card provided by appellant did not match the card on the receipt. (2 RT 699.) Appellant apologized and said that he had given Southwell the wrong card,

² The Reporter's Transcript refers to the loss prevention officers as "lost" prevention officers. This appears to be an error since the correct term is commonly known to be "loss" prevention. Appellant uses the term "loss" prevention in this brief.

then handed him two gold mastercards. (2 RT 700.) The last four digits on those cards also did not match the digits on the Wal-Mart receipt. (2 RT 701.)

Appellant began walking toward the retail exit door. (2 RT 701.)

Southwell followed appellant and asked him why the cards were different.

(2 RT 702.) As appellant was walking, he handed Southwell another card, the last four digits of which also did not match the receipt. (2 RT 702-703.)

As appellant neared the exit to the store, Southwell asked him to come to his office for further investigation. (2 RT 706.) Southwell then told appellant to stop, but appellant failed to do so. (2 RT 706.)

Loss prevention personnel Howard Coggeshall and Derek Valiza joined Southwell and Harris. (2 RT 707.) Appellant shoved Southwell and attempted to flee. (2 RT 707.) The loss prevention officers attempted to detain him, and appellant struggled. (2 RT 713.) The officers testified that as appellant was face down on the pavement, he put his left hand under his waistband and stated he was reaching for a gun. (2 RT 715, 969-970.) Harris and Southwell secured appellant's left arm. (3 RT 970-971.) No gun was found, but Southwell, Valiza, and Coggeshall testified they did not know if appellant had a gun, and they feared for their safety. (2 RT 715-

716, 3 RT 962, 980.) Southwell testified that he reviewed video taken at the time of the incident, and the video was played for the jury. (2 RT 688-690, 708-712.)

Los Angeles County Sheriff's Deputy Jason Jones received and impounded evidence from the loss prevention officers. (3 RT 989-990.)

Four credit cards—the last four digits of which were 7288, 7197, 2015, and 0778—were impounded, as well as six Wal-Mart gift cards, two McDonald's gift cards, two Jack-in-the-Box gift cards, and one Angel's gift card. (3 RT 991-994.) In addition receipts attached to five of the Wal-Mart gift cards were impounded. (3 RT 993-994.) Appellant told Jones he did not have any knowledge of the cards and that he only purchased a beverage using his "EBT" card. (3 RT 998.) Jones pointed out that appellant did not have an EBT card in his wallet, and appellant stated he was mistaken and had in fact paid cash. (3 RT 998-999.) Appellant did not provide a receipt for the drink purchase. (3 RT 999.)

Erich Doepking, a Los Angeles County Sheriff's Deputy, testified that the credit cards recovered from appellant contained account information belonging to others encoded in the magnetic stripe. (2 RT 634, 642-647.)

Defense Evidence

Appellant testified. (3 RT 1205.) He admitted one misdemeanor prior conviction and nine felony prior convictions. (3 RT 1206-1207.) He received the mastercards from a friend, Kenneth Smith, as payment for money he was owed. (3 RT 1218-1219.) He had known Smith for four years. (3 RT 1219.) Appellant testified that he believed that Smith was currently in Arizona, and appellant's family had been unsuccessful in their attempts to reach Smith. (3 RT 1220-1221.)

Appellant admitting purchasing two gift cards and attempting to buy three others. (3 RT 1219.) He denied pushing Southwell or struggling with the loss prevention officers or making any statement about a gun. (3 RT 1235, 1239, 1246.) He stated that Southwell never stated that he was "security." (3 RT 1271.)

On cross-examination, appellant admitted that at the time of the incident he was under the influence of drugs and alcohol, having taken drugs the preceding day and having consumed alcohol and marijuana that morning. (3 RT 1267-1269.)

INTRODUCTON

"At common law, robbery consists of larceny plus two aggravating circumstances. Therefore, a defendant commits a robbery when, with the intent to permanently deprive, he trespassorily takes and carries away the personal property of another from the latter's person or presence by the use of force or threatened force." (4 Wharton, Criminal Law, 15th ed., § 454 (1996.) At least twelve decades of California decisional law is in accord. (E.g., *People v. Nelson* (1880) 56 Cal.77, 80 ["robbery is larceny, committed by violence, from the person of another"]; *People v. Gomez* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 249, 254, and 254, fn. 2 ["robbery is . . . a species of aggravated larceny;" "section 211, enacted in 1872, incorporates common law robbery requirements"].)

The underlying theft in appellant's case is theft by false pretenses, not larceny. In theft by false pretenses, there is no larcenous "taking," that is, no "caption" and "asportation" of the property. Instead, there is a fraud or false representation, based on which the victim intends to deliver and does deliver both title and possession of property to the accused. When the property is delivered, the theft is completed.

This Court should preserve the law, that it and other appellate courts

of this state have repeatedly established, that without a larcenous taking, there can be no robbery. California courts embrace the doctrine that robbery is a continuing offense, such that the crime is committed if the force or fear is used after the caption or acquisition of the property but before the asportation is completed. (E.g., *People v. Gomez, supra,* 43 Cal.4th at pp. 249, 254, 255-256; *People v. Estes* (1983) 147 Cal. App. 3d 23, 28.) In order for this doctrine to make sense, the underlying theft must involve a "taking" that can be ongoing. Larceny has that element; theft by false pretenses does not.

Too, where the force or fear is not used in the caption of the property but only during its asportation—that is, during the attempt to escape with the property and before reaching a position of temporary safety—the person against whom the force or fear is used must be deemed to be in possession of the property. The reason that a loss prevention officer may be the victim of a robbery if force or fear is used to escape with shoplifted property is that, as a store employee, the officer is deemed to be in possession of the store's property. (*People v. Estes, supra,* 147 Cal.App.3d at p. 27.) This element is inconsistent with theft by false pretenses. Once possession of and title to the store's property have been delivered (even if as a result of a

false representation) it cannot be said that the loss prevention officer is in possession of the store's property.

This Court has always hewed to the common law requirements that were carried forward into section 211, rejecting, for example, decisions of the Courts of Appeal that purported to broaden the scope of robbery to include—as the Model Penal Code and many states do—the notion that any person present may be deemed the victim of a robbery even if he or she does not have any possessory interest in the property. (People v. Nguyen (2000) 24 Cal.4h 756, 763-764.) Here, the question for review must be answered in the negative, and the Court should reiterate that robbery is a species of aggravated larceny. (People v. Gomez, supra, 43 Cal.4th at p. 254 and fn. 2.) Doing so recognizes the wisdom of the doctrine of stare decisis in that it promotes the "predictability and stability in the law [that] are the major objectives of the legal system " (People v. Latimer (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1203, 1212.) The robbery convictions in appellant's case should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE UNDERLYING THEFT ESTABLISHED BY THE EVIDENCE WAS THEFT BY FALSE PRETENSES, NOT THEFT BY LARCENY.

The Legislature in 1927 purported to consolidate the common law offenses of larceny, embezzlement, and obtaining property by false pretenses into a single statute as "theft." (§ 484.) In pertinent part, the statute now includes all three common law crimes:

Every person who shall feloniously steal, take, carry, lead, or drive away the personal property of another, or who shall fraudulently appropriate property which has been entrusted to him or her, or who shall knowingly and designedly, by any false or fraudulent representation or pretense, defraud any other person of money, labor or real or personal property, or who causes or procures others to report falsely of his or her wealth or mercantile character and by thus imposing upon any person, obtains credit and thereby fraudulently gets or obtains possession of money, or property or obtains the labor or service of another, is guilty of theft.

The Legislature also provided that "[w]henever any law or statute of this state refers to or mentions larceny, embezzlement, or stealing, said law or statute shall be read and interpreted as if the word 'theft' were substituted therefor." (§ 490a.) This Court has consistently held, however, that the consolidation did not eliminate the substantive distinction between

the forms of theft that the common law had established:

When the formerly distinct offenses of larceny, embezzlement, and obtaining property by false pretenses were consolidated in 1927 into the single crime of "theft" defined by Penal Code section 484, most of the procedural distinctions between those offenses were abolished. But their substantive distinctions were not: "The elements of the several types of theft included within section 484 have not been changed, however,"

(People v. Davis (1998) 19 Cal. 4th 301, 304-305, quoting People v. Ashley (1954) 42 Cal. 2d 246, 258.)

Thus, "[w]hile a general verdict of guilt may be sustained on evidence establishing any one of the consolidated theft offenses [citation], the offense shown by the evidence must be one on which the jury was instructed and thus could have reached its verdict. [Citation.]" (*People v. Curtin* (1994) 22 Cal.App.4th 528, 531.) See also *People v. Gomez, supra*, 43 Cal.4th at p. 255, fn. 4 [citing *People v. Davis, supra*]; *People v. Allen* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 846, 863 ["theft," as used in section 484, refers to larceny, embezzlement, or theft by false pretenses]; *People v. Carter* (1933) 131 Cal.App.177, 182-183 [substantive requirements of theft by false pretenses not changed by the statute].)

The first sentence of section 484 refers to theft by larceny: "Insofar as it defines theft by larceny, Penal Code section 484, subdivision (a),

provides simply that 'Every person who shall feloniously steal, take, carry, lead, or drive away the personal property of another . . . is guilty of theft.' The statute is declaratory of the common law." (*People v. Davis, supra*, 19 Cal. 4th at p. 304, fn. 1.) Larceny is committed when one "(1) takes possession (2) of personal property (3) owned or possessed by another, (4) by means of trespass and (5) with intent to steal the property, and (6) carries the property away." (*Id.*, at p. 305.) "'Taking,' in turn, has two aspects: (1) achieving possession of the property, known as 'caption,' and (2) carrying the property away, or 'asportation." (*People v. Gomez, supra*, 43 Cal. 4th at p. 255.) The "taking" must be trespassory, that is, nonconsensual. (*People v. Edwards* (1925) 72 Cal.App. 102, 113, disapproved on other grounds in *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, 748.)

In the crime of larceny by trick or device, the use of trickery or fraud in obtaining possession (and only possession) is deemed to vitiate any purported consent by the rightful possessor to yielding possession of the property, and thus satisfies the requirement for a larcenous taking. (*People v. Edwards, supra*, 72 Cal.App. at p. 103 ["a taking, within the definition of larceny, occurs when a person, with a preconceived design to appropriate the property to his own use, obtains possession of it by means of fraud or

trickery"].)

Theft by false pretenses, however, differs from larceny in that there is no trespassory "taking" and no "carrying away" of the property. In theft by false pretenses, both *possession and title* to the property are consensually delivered by the victim to the perpetrator; the act is criminal in that the delivery is induced by fraud or false pretense committed by the perpetrator and relied upon by the victim. (*People v. Traster* (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 1377, 1387.)

The distinction between acquisition of possession only of the subject property and the acquisition of both title and possession is a crucial distinction between larceny and theft by false pretenses:

Although the crimes of larceny by trick and device and obtaining property by false pretenses are much alike, they are aimed at different criminal acquisitive techniques. Larceny by trick and device is the appropriation of property, the *possession* of which was fraudulently acquired; obtaining property by false pretenses is the fraudulent or deceitful acquisition of *both title and possession*.

(People v. Ashley, supra, 42 Cal.2d at p. 658 [emphases added].)

The Court added that, though larceny by trick and theft by false pretenses—along with other larcenous crimes—"have been consolidated into the single crime of theft . . . their elements have not been changed

thereby." (*People v. Ashley, supra*, 42 Cal.2d at p. 658.) As Professor Witkin explains, "when the victim *transfers title* there is no common law larceny, and the crime of obtaining property by false pretenses was created by English and American Statutes to fill the gap." (2 Witkin & Epstein, California Criminal Law (3d ed. 2000), Crimes Against Property, § 43, pp. 67-68.) Thus:

In larceny—even "larceny by trick," in which a victim is deceived into yielding possession of his property to the perpetrator—the victim does not intend to part with title or ownership to the property. "It is essential in such cases [larceny by trick] that the owner shall intend to part with the possession only, and not to pass the title as well. If he intends to pass both the possession and the title, the transaction, though it may amount to the crime of obtaining property by false pretenses, will not constitute larceny."

(People v. Traster, supra, 111 Cal.App.4th at p. 1388 [brackets in original].)

The distinction between larceny and theft by false pretenses remains controlling and may not be ignored. "In this state, these two offenses, with other larcenous crimes, have been consolidated into the single crime of theft (§ 484), but their elements have not been changed thereby. [Citations.]" *People v. Traster, supra*, 111 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1387.) *People v. Curtin, supra*, 22 Cal.App.4th 528, is illustrative. There, the defendant entered a bank and presented a check made out to a Dan Hart, a customer of the bank.

He presented a photographic identification that had Hart's name on it and the defendant's picture. The check was purportedly drawn on the account of another person, but was in fact a forged check that had been stolen from that person. The bank teller cashed the check and gave the money to the defendant. (*People v. Curtin, supra*, 22 Cal.App.4th at p. 530.) The defendant was convicted of forgery and of theft, based on the theory of larceny by trick or device. Quoting *People v. Ashley, supra*, that the distinction between obtaining possession only as compared to possession and title is controlling, the Court of Appeal reversed. (*People v. Curtin, supra*, 22 Cal.App.4th at p. 531.) The Court concluded:

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