# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

# THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S195187

V.

## **DEMETRIUS WILLIAMS,**

Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Case No. B222845 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. MA046168 The Honorable Bernie C. LaForteza, Judge

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUPREME COURT FILED

FFR X 6 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A robbery is committed when force or fear is used to retain stolen property without regard to whether the property was stolen in a theft by larceny or by false pretenses. (*People v. Hill, supra,* 17 Cal.4th at p. 850.) Both the purpose underlying the robbery statute and the 1927 consolidation of the theft crimes support a finding that each type of theft may result in a robbery conviction.

Robbery, whether by force or by fear, is a crime of violence. The purpose of the robbery statute, Penal Code section 211, is to prohibit and to single out for severe punishment the use of violence to perpetrate a theft. The statute was intended to protect not only property rights, but "the societal interest in the safety and security of the person." As this Court has already held, it is immaterial whether that violence occurs in the initial

caption of the property or in retaining or carrying it away. As this Court has likewise held, it does not matter what precise type of theft—larceny or false pretenses—precipitated the thief's resort to violence to retain or carry away the stolen goods. Under either of these scenarios, the purpose underlying the robbery statute is implicated and the elements of robbery are satisfied.

Over eight decades ago, the Legislature consolidated the various categories of theft, including larceny, theft by false pretenses, and others, into a single statutory offense. The Legislature's purposes in doing so were to treat all forms of theft in the same manner, and to avoid unnecessary complications of pleading and proof in cases where the precise species of theft is difficult to discern. Contrary to the Legislature's intent, appellant would have this Court resurrect the distinction between larceny and false pretenses in the context of robbery.

Arguing to the contrary that robbery cannot be based on a theft by false pretenses, appellant parses the phrasing of various decisions in which this Court referred to robbery as an aggravated form of "larceny." But those decisions did not address the current issue, nor do they suggest any intent by this Court to preclude robbery convictions where the initial theft of the property was accomplished by false pretenses rather than larceny. Appellant ignores other decisions by this Court referring to robbery as an aggravated form of "theft."

Appellant further argues that theft by false pretenses cannot form the basis for robbery because that crime, unlike larceny, has no element of asportation and is therefore not "continuing" in nature. But regardless of whether asportation is an element of theft by false pretenses, a defendant (like appellant) who commits such a theft and actually asports the stolen property, using force against the victim while doing so, has satisfied all of the elements of robbery. The type of theft by which a defendant initially

gains possession of the property should not matter in the determination of whether the defendant is guilty of robbery.

Appellant also argues that his use of force against the loss prevention officers could not support a robbery because the officers no longer had constructive possession of the stolen goods at the time the force was used. But the loss prevention officers had authority to prevent appellant from getting away with the stolen property, and therefore their constructive possession of the property continued. A loss prevention officer's authority to stop a thief and recover stolen property exists whether the thief acquired the property by means of a larceny or a false pretense. Thus, the possession element was satisfied in this case for the same reason it is satisfied when a common larceny is followed by the use of force or fear against the victim to retain or escape with the goods, a scenario which this Court has also recognized as robbery. In other words, appellant's argument regarding constructive possession fails to draw a meaningful distinction between the current case and cases involving an initial larceny.

Lastly, appellant argues that to permit robbery convictions to be based on the use of force or fear following a theft by false pretenses would constitute an improper judicial expansion of the robbery statute, invading the province of the Legislature. But as noted, appellant's offense satisfies all of the elements of the robbery statute: a taking (caption and carrying away) of property from the possession and immediate presence of another by means of force or fear. To deem such a crime to be "robbery" could not possibly amount to an expansion of the statute.

For all of these reasons, this Court should hold that the use of force or fear to retain or escape with personal property feloniously taken from the immediate presence of another constitutes robbery, whether the theft was by larceny or by false pretenses.

#### **ARGUMENT**

APPELLANT WAS PROPERLY CONVICTED OF ROBBERY BASED ON HIS USE OF FORCE AND FEAR AGAINST THE LOSS PREVENTION OFFICERS IN CARRYING AWAY THE PROPERTY HE HAD STOLEN FROM THE STORE BY FALSE PRETENSES

Robbery is the felonious taking of personal property in the possession of another, from his person or immediate presence, and against his will, accomplished by means of force or fear. (Pen. Code, § 211.) Most robberies involve the use of force or fear at the time property is acquired. But it is well-settled that a robbery can also be committed when a perpetrator first uses force or fear in an attempt to retain or escape with stolen property. It does not matter whether the property was stolen by means of a theft by larceny or a theft by false pretenses. Indeed, this Court has already recognized that a robbery can arise from a theft by false pretenses in a situation where a victim discovers the ruse and attempts to reclaim the stolen property while the perpetrator is still in his or her presence. (*People v. Hill, supra,* 17 Cal.4th at p. 850.)

As appellant was unable to produce a credit card with numbers that matched his receipt, his ruse or theft by false pretenses came to light while he was still inside the Wal-Mart. When the four loss prevention officers attempted to detain appellant for further investigation, he used force and fear in attempting to retain and escape with the stolen property. Accordingly, as the Court of Appeal properly found, the evidence was sufficient to support appellant's robbery convictions.

A. A Robbery Is Committed When Force Or Fear Is Used During The Asportation Of Stolen Property Without Regard To The Means By Which The Defendant Originally Acquired The Property

Section 211 defines robbery as "the felonious taking of personal property in the possession of another, from his person or immediate

The "taking" element of robbery includes two necessary parts: (1) caption or gaining possession of the other person's property, and (2) asportation or carrying away the loot. (*People v. Gomez* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 249, 255; *People v. Lopez* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1051, 1056.) The taking is felonious if it is accompanied by an intent to steal or to deprive another person of his or her property with the taker knowing he had no right or claim to the property. (*People v. Bacon* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1082, 1117; *People v. Tufunga* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 935, 950 [a claim-of-right defense exists with respect to robbery].) The asportation requirement is satisfied by the slightest movement of the property, but the crime is deemed to continue until the perpetrator has reached a place of temporary safety with the property. (*People v. Gomez, supra*, 43 Cal.4th at p. 255.)

For purposes of robbery, possession may be actual or constructive. "A person who owns property or who exercises direct physical control over it has possession of it, but neither ownership nor physical possession is required to establish the element of possession for the purposes of the robbery statute." (*People v. Scott* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 743, 749.) A theory of constructive possession has expanded the concept of possession to include any person who has a special relationship with the owner of the property such that the victim has some authority or responsibility to protect the stolen property on behalf of the owner. (*Id.* at pp. 749-750.) All employees on duty during a robbery have constructive possession of their employer's property. (*Id.* at pp. 754-755.) Thus, more than one employee may be in joint constructive possession of a single item of personal property. (*Id.* at p. 750.)

As noted, the "taking" element of robbery includes both caption and asportation. (*People v. Gomez, supra,* 43 Cal.4th at p. 255.) Although most robberies involve the use of force or fear at the time of caption, the

statute is also satisfied by the use of force or fear during asportation. (*Id.* at p. 258 [recognizing that this Court's prior decisions affirm that, "if the 'force or fear' element comes into play not during caption but during asportation, the crime is still a robbery"]; *People v. Estes* (1983) 147 Cal.App.3d 23, 27-28 ["a robbery occurs when defendant uses force or fear in resisting attempts to regain the property or in attempting to remove the property from the owner's immediate presence regardless of the means by which the defendant originally acquired the property"].) Robberies in which the force or fear is not used until after the perpetrator has already gained possession of the loot are sometimes called *Estes* robberies¹ in reference to one of the first cases to recognize that force or fear during asportation is sufficient because a defendant's "guilt is not to be weighed at each step of the robbery as it unfolds." (*People v. Estes, supra*, 147 Cal.App.3d at p. 28 [also stating that robbery "is not divisible into a series of separate acts"].)

In the context of an *Estes* robbery, this Court has repeatedly found that it makes no difference how the defendant originally acquired the stolen property. In *Gomez*, this Court explained, "a robbery can be accomplished even if the property was peacefully or duplicitously acquired, if force or fear was used to carry it away." (*People v. Gomez, supra,* 43 Cal.4th at p. 256.) On another occasion, this Court recognized that, "even if the perpetrator used peaceful means, such as a pretext, to separate the property from the victim, 'what would have been a mere theft is transformed into robbery if the perpetrator . . . [later] uses force to retain or escape with [the property]." (*People v. Webster* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 411, 441, internal citation omitted.) In yet another case, this Court rejected an argument that the evidence was insufficient to support the defendant's robbery conviction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For convenience, respondent will use the same term in this brief.

merely because the salesperson gave him possession of the store property before the defendant employed any force or fear. (*People v. Anderson* (1966) 64 Cal.2d 633, 638.)

# B. This Court Has Specifically Found That An *Estes*Robbery Can Arise From A Theft By False Pretenses

The issue presented in this case is whether an *Estes* robbery can arise from a theft by false pretenses. In *Hill*, this Court answered that question in the affirmative. (*People v. Hill, supra,* 17 Cal.4th at p. 850.)

The defendant in that case challenged the sufficiency of the evidence underlying his conviction for robbing Stuart Margetts. As part of the challenge, the defendant argued "he could have obtained Margetts's money by false pretenses (passing off the bunk as real cocaine), stabbing him only when he discovered the ruse and attempted to reclaim his money." (*People v. Hill, supra,* 17 Cal.4th at p. 850.) But this Court found that the defendant's scenario satisfied the elements of robbery. Quoting *Webster*, this Court explained that even if the defendant had used a pretext to separate the property from the victim, the later use of force to retain the property transformed the theft into a robbery. (*Ibid.*)

Like the defendant in *Hill*, appellant asserts that he could not be convicted of robbery because he initially obtained the property by means of a false pretense. But under *Hill*, appellant's use of a pretext to acquire the property did not preclude a robbery conviction. To the contrary, appellant's use of force to retain the stolen property transformed the theft into a robbery.

## C. A Robbery Stemming From A Theft By False Pretenses Is Consistent With Both The Purpose Of The Robbery Statute And The Legislature's Consolidation Of The Various Theft Offenses

Robbery is a crime against both person and property. (*People v. Tufunga, supra,* 21 Cal.4th at p. 948.) "Robbery violates the social interest

in the *safety and security of the person* as well as the social interest in the protection of property rights." (*People v. Gomez, supra,* 43 Cal.4th at p. 264, italics added, quoting Perkins & Boyce, Criminal Law (3d ed. 1982) p. 350; see *People v. Scott, supra,* 45 Cal.4th at p. 749 ["Robbery is a crime of violence committed against a person"].) Both interests are implicated when a perpetrator uses force or fear against a victim who is attempting to regain stolen property without regard to the particular manner of theft that was employed. The same societal interest in protecting property rights exists whether the property was stolen by means of a larceny or a false pretense.<sup>2</sup>

The California Legislature's consolidation of different theft crimes into one offense called "theft" further supports a finding that a robbery conviction can be premised on a theft by false pretenses. In 1927, larceny, larceny by trick, theft by false pretenses, and embezzlement were all consolidated into one criminal offense. (§ 484, subd. (a).) The purpose of the consolidation was to remove technicalities in pleading and proof. (*People v. Ashley, supra,* 42 Cal.3d at p. 258.) As a result of the consolidation, an indictment or information can charge the crime of theft by simply alleging that "the defendant unlawfully took the labor or property of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The elements of theft by larceny are well settled: the offense is committed by every person who (1) takes possession (2) of personal property (3) owned or possessed by another, (4) by means of trespass and (5) with the intent to steal the property, and (6) carries the property away." (*People v. Davis* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 301, 305.) Property taken from another is always done by means of trespass unless the owner consented to the taking or the taker had a legal right to the property. (*Ibid.*)

A theft by false pretenses requires proof that (1) the defendant made a false pretense or representation to the owner of the property (2) with the intent to defraud the owner of the property, and (3) the owner transferred the property to the defendant in reliance on the representation. (§ 532, subd. (a); *People v. Ashley* (1954) 42 Cal.3d 246, 259.) In a theft by false pretenses, the victim intends to part with both possession and title to the property. (*Id.*, at p. 258.)

another." (§ 952.) Moreover, "[j]uries need no longer be concerned with the technical differences between the several types of theft, and can return a general verdict of guilty if they find that an 'unlawful taking' has been proved." (*People v. Ashley, supra,* 42 Cal.3d at p. 258.) Finally, the sentence for theft is the same irrespective of the particular means used to unlawfully take the property. (§§ 487-490.) Given this legislative intent to treat the different types of theft so similarly, the thefts also should be treated similarly with respect to the consequences for using force in connection with the theft.

Appellant would have this Court resurrect, in the context of robbery, distinctions between the theft crimes that the Legislature sought to abolish long ago. Under appellant's view of robbery, a jury presumably would need to be concerned with the "technical differences" between the different thefts when force is used because only certain types of theft could result in a robbery. Additionally, under appellant's view, while the sentence for theft is the same irrespective of the particular means used to unlawfully take the property, the different types of theft would be subject to unequal treatment when violence is used to retain the stolen property.

But appellant's view of robbery is inconsistent with both the purpose of the robbery statute and the Legislature's consolidation of the various theft crimes. In contrast, a finding that both types of theft can result in an *Estes* robbery will produce results that are rationally related to the offender's culpability and consistent with the purpose of both the robbery statute and the legislative consolidation of the theft crimes.

D. Appellant Erroneously Relies On Language Taken From Decisions Of This Court That Have Not Even Suggested That An *Estes* Robbery Must Begin With A Larceny

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